
Please ask for Democratic Services Telephone (01362) 656225 
email: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 

Committee - BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

Date & Time - TUESDAY, 14TH SEPTEMBER, 2021 AT 
10.00 AM 

Venue - TRAINING ROOM OR MARQUEE, 
GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE 
MUSEUM, FAKENHAM ROAD, 
GRESSENHALL, DEREHAM, NR20 4DR 

 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Breckland Council Norfolk County Council 
  
Cllr Robert Kybird (Chairman) 
Cllr Claire Bowes 
Cllr Hilary Bushell 
Cllr Harry Clarke 
Cllr Chris Harvey 
Mr F. Eagle 
Cllr Terry Jermy 
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris 
Mr W Richmond 
 

Cllr Phillip Duigan (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 

Co-optees Ex-Officio 
  
Mr D. Blackburn 
Mr Bill Rhodes 
Dr K Robinson 
 

Mr J Ward 
R Kybird 
 

  

  
  

 

Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Sunday, 5 September 2021  
 

Public Document Pack



 

2 

 
 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. CHAIRMAN   

 To elect a Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

 

2. VICE-CHAIRMAN   

 To elect a Vice-Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

 

3. MINUTES  3 - 13 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2021. 
 

 

4. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   

6. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 
1972. 
 

 

7. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

8. ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT  14 - 22 

 To receive a report from Oliver Bone, Curator of Ancient House Museum. 
 

 

9. GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT  23 - 38 

 To receive a report from Andrew Smith, Operations Manager – West. 
 

 

10. NEXT MEETING   

 To agree a date for the next meeting, suggested date Monday 22nd 
November 2021. 
 

 



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 25 January 2021 at 10.00 am

This meeting is in line with the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 2020.

PRESENT
Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr P.J. Duigan (Vice-Chairman)

Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris

Also Present
David Blackburn
Bill Rhodes

In Attendance
Oliver Bone
Brett Girling
Dr Robin Hanley
Andrew Smith

Teresa Smith
Julie Britton
Ruth Tudge

Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford Museums
Commercial Property Manager
Assistant Head of Museums
Operations Manager – West (& East), Norfolk 
Museums Service
Democratic Services Team Leader
Democratic Services Officer
Democratic Services officer

Action By
1/21 MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 12 October 2020 were confirmed 
as a correct record.

2/21 APOLOGIES 

Apologies had been received from Councillors Clarke, Harvey, 
Richmond and Mr Ward.

3/21 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

None.

4/21 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

5/21 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Public Document Pack

3

Agenda Item 3



Breckland Area Museums Committee
25 January 2021

2

Action By

None.

6/21 ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT 

Dr Robin Hanley, Assistant Head of Museums, Norfolk Museums 
Service (NMS), provided the Committee with an update on the effect 
of COVID-19, the current museum closures, and how it had affected 
the NMS and the impact experienced so far.

All Norfolk Museums had been closed to visitors on 19 March 2020 as 
a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. The majority of NMS staff had 
been working remotely since that time. Following a phased COVID-
secure reopening of the NMS museum sites at Norwich Castle, 
Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse and the Time & Tide Museum during 
July and August and at Lynn Museum in October, all sites had closed 
again from 5 November 2020 as part of the second national lockdown. 
He explained if an area fell into tier 3 or 4, current government 
restrictions meant that legally they could not reopen to the public until 
restrictions were released.

Dr Hanley further explained that many normal activities and services, 
including school visits had been severely impacted due to COVID-19. 
Many NMS staff had been involved in key duties relating to the 
Norfolk County Council’s COVID-19 emergency work, including 
making telephone calls to vulnerable residents and managing the 
distribution of food and medicine to residents who needed that 
support. He added that during museum closures, staff had made 
regular checks to all buildings to ensure safeguarding of buildings and 
collections.

Museum staff had been very positive and creative and had adapted to 
new ways of working by exploring different ways to engage both 
existing and new audiences particularly through digital activity. He 
explained that following the Government announcement that 
museums could legally reopen from 4 July 20 with suitable COVID-19 
security measures in place, Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse 
successfully reopened to visitors in the summer. This followed the 
implementation of strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were 
reviewed and signed off by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing 
team. Re-opening had also been in accordance with sector-specific 
guidance issued by the National Museums Directors Council. 
Gressenhall reopened to Museums Pass holders and Friends on 20 
July, prior to opening to the general public on 3 August. All visits had 
to be pre-booked using timed tickets available from the Art Tickets 
website and had to accommodate social distancing, site visitor 
capacity had been significantly reduced.

The Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford Museums, Oliver Bone, 
presented the Ancient House Museum report that covered the period 
from September 2020 to December 2020.

He explained that the layout of Ancient House, with a number of 
smaller rooms over two floors made the re-opening more difficult 
during the COVID-19 pandemic due to the requirements for social 

4



Breckland Area Museums Committee
25 January 2021

3

Action By

distancing and confirmed that Ancient House had remained closed 
since March 2020. Extensive work had been carried out by staff to 
plan carefully controlled COVID-secure on-site activities for schools in 
liaison with the NCC Health, Safety & Wellbeing team with the first 
groups expected in December 2020 but those visits had to be 
cancelled due to the effect of building works at the property next door, 
the former King’s Head Public House. The impact of the building 
works had caused disruption to the museum’s plans to provide a safe 
return of school groups.

The Studio Ceramics exhibition, which was the last exhibition at the 
museum prior to lockdown, would now be deinstalled and packed up 
for storage to make room for a new exhibition of Thetford Treasure 
which had originally been planned for 2020. Staff were now hoping 
that this exhibition would be held in 2021 to provide added interest for 
the reopening of the museum, from 27 March to 4 December 2021, 
with exact dates to be confirmed with the British Museum.

The Ancient House was working with the Brecks River and Fen Edge 
Landscape project, with the focus being on Vikings, in partnership 
with Dr Richard Hoggett to curate the exhibitions. This would also 
involve members of the Teenage History Group who would work with 
the NMS Learning officer, Melissa Hawker to work together as 
community curators to choose artefacts and themes for the display.

The Ancient House continued to host a paid traineeship, provided 
through the NMS Teaching Museum programme, and the current 
trainee, Sami Yusuf provided Members with a short talk on his 
experience so far. He explained that his placement had started at the 
beginning of the pandemic with the vast majority of work being done 
remotely. He had some concerns at the beginning of how his 
traineeship would progress during lockdown but although the digital 
aspect had presented different challenges, it had also offered many 
opportunities. He had joined Melissa Hawker in providing some school 
deliveries on-line and had recently livestreamed to two primary 
schools to link in with their learning curriculum of Anglo Saxons and 
Vikings. 

The Chairman enlightened the Committee that, the funders of the 
scheme, Arts Council England, had confirmed that due to the current 
pandemic, the current trainee scheme would be extended to 18 
months.

7/21 GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT 

The Operations Manager for East and West, Andrew Smith, 
presented the report that covered the period from October 2020 to 
December 2020.

The effect of lockdown and procedures that had been put in place 
were reiterated. Members were informed that Gressenhall had 
reduced ‘touchpoints’ in the museum, covering these over where 
appropriate. He explained that new takeaway activity trails and packs 
for younger visitors and their families to use around the Gressenhall 

5



Breckland Area Museums Committee
25 January 2021

4

Action By

site had been introduced. All museum visits had to be pre-booked 
using timed tickets from the Art Tickets website and to accommodate 
social distancing, site visitor capacity had been significantly reduced.

Due to the pandemic, most of the events programme had to be 
cancelled. However, there had been a focus on digital delivery as an 
alternative means of engaging existing and new audiences. The 
school holiday programme for October half term 2020 was able to go 
ahead in an amended COVID-19 secure self-led format. The half term 
week theme was Awesome Autumn which ran from 22 October to 1 
November and staff had been able to blend a combination of physical 
and digital engagement to support this theme. It had allowed visitors 
to explore nature more closely through autumn crafts, quiz trails, 
adventurous woodland games and a pumpkin obstacle course which 
had proved popular. 

Since the reopening of the Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse on 20 
July 20 a reintroduction of small-scale event activities had been 
instigated which had focussed on self-led, pencil free activities. The 
Events, Learning and Curatorial teams had focussed their efforts on 
digital resources and had uploaded information including an online 
murder mystery and children’s craft activities along with creativity and 
wellbeing activities inspired by the Lorina Bulwer exhibitions.

With the events programme cancellations, particularly major events 
such as Apple Day, Gressenhall had presented the first virtual event 
day with Apple Day Online which delivered creative craft ideas, apple 
recipes, an apple variety quiz and regular on-line posts across the day 
for audiences to enjoy. The second virtual event was hosted on 21 
and 22 December with Online Festive Activities. Visitors online were 
greeted with Christmas themed storytelling, craft activities, cooking 
sessions and a special virtual visit from Father Christmas.

Subject to COVID-19 restrictions, by mid-March it was hoped to have 
de-installed the ‘Full Steam Ahead’ exhibition which originally opened 
on 17 February 2020 for half term, and progress to ‘More in 
Commons’, the temporary exhibition for 2021. For this exhibition staff 
were working in partnership with the Norfolk Wildlife Trust. This would 
be a celebration of the wildlife, history and community of Norfolk’s 
common land. Working together with natural history colleagues, 
community groups (including Gypsy and Romany Travellers) and 
volunteers, staff would be developing a COVID-19 secure but 
engaging exhibition. 

Staff at Gressenhall had created several on-line versions of previous 
temporary exhibitions and tours during the lockdown period to allow 
online visitors to explore objects and images at their own pace. These 
included the Full Steam Ahead exhibition and the Behind-the-Scenes 
Collections Store Tour. This digital content would be uploaded to the 
Google Arts and Culture platform which would make it accessible to a 
much wider audience online.

Gressenhall continued to lead on the ‘More than Oliver Twist’ project. 
NMS had been granted a further extension to the project which would 

6



Breckland Area Museums Committee
25 January 2021

5

Action By

be completed by 31 March 2021. This was originally due to have been 
a physical exhibition which would have toured around the UK with the 
six regional partners. However, since lockdown this had been 
changed to a completely digital offer, now to be hosted on the Google 
Arts and Culture platform.

The Farmers Foundry Company - steam engine restoration project, 
funded through Arts Council England had another revised and 
approved timetable due to delays experienced with lockdown. The 
plan was to bring the steam engine back to Gressenhall in spring 
2021, the engine was now ready to be returned to site, once 
restrictions had been lifted.

Andrew was pleased to inform the Committee that the new adventure 
playground at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse did finally open on 
25 October 2020, in time for the October half term week. He was also 
pleased to report that it had been extremely well received by family 
visitors during that week. The opening followed the implementation of 
strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were reviewed and signed off 
by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing team. All visits had to be 
pre-booked using timed tickets available from the playground 
entrance once families had arrived at Gressenhall using their pre-
booked museum entry tickets.  The capacity of the playground was 
significantly reduced to maintain social distancing, with 25 children 
able to use the play equipment during a 40-minute play session with a 
30-minute cleaning regime between each session. 

The Gressenhall farm staff continued to ensure the daily feeding and 
care of the livestock had been maintained. One element of the farm 
operation which had been able to continue during lockdown, was the 
training of the youngest Suffolk Punch horse, Caspar. It was hoped he 
would be ready to join the rest of the team from the 2022 season 
onwards.

The Friends of Gressenhall remained supportive but had been unable 
to generate any new income from the second-hand bookshop which 
had been closed since the middle of March. Mr Bill Rhodes from the 
Friends of Gressenhall, explained that the income had dropped 
tremendously, both with Membership and the book shop, which meant 
they had not been able to meet every request for funding from 
Gressenhall that they would have hoped to. It was noted that funding 
had dropped to approximately £3,000, reduced from an average of 
£8,500, a considerable drop. 

Councillor Kybird conveyed his thanks to the Friends of the Museums 
and stated that they were an essential part of engaging with the 
community and contributed towards the success of the museums.

The planned COVID-secure return of school visits had been delayed 
due to the second lockdown in November. This had been frustrating 
for staff and schools as there were 800 children from schools booked 
in which had been clear evidence there remained a strong demand for 
the service. There had been a small window where Gressenhall had 
been visited by five schools in total, each visit being from a single 

7



Breckland Area Museums Committee
25 January 2021

6

Action By

class group bubble. Preparations had been thorough; the visits went 
well, and it was felt that the experience of face-to-face delivery proved 
a useful learning tool for staff to be prepared and ready for when 
physical visits could recommence.

Learning staff had completed and piloted two sets of films to support 
classroom learning where schools could watch the films, think of 
questions they wished to ask and then talk to a costumed character or 
member of staff via livestream. Responses to both series of films had 
been very positive.

Dr Hanley updated the Committee on the Kick the Dust Project which 
had been funded through the National Lottery Heritage Fund. The 
Project Team had adapted their activities and continued to engage 
with young people to support existing groups across Norfolk using 
digital means. The project had been running since October 2018 and 
had been working with young people, outside of a school setting, in 
the age group 11 to 25 with most of the activity focussing on young 
people aged 16 and above. As part of the project, they had worked 
closely with key partners, YMCA Norfolk and Creative Collisions. He 
explained from the first lockdown in March to the 21 December 2020, 
there had been a total of 1,860 interventions, involving 704 individual 
young people taking part in 880 hours of digital activity. The Project 
Team had worked hard with YMCA partners to provide engaging 
activities during lockdown when young people were unable to leave 
their accommodation. 

Dr Hanley reported that the summary of evaluation responses had 
confirmed that the Kick the Dust Project in Norfolk continued to be 
very successful and had engaged and developed sustainable 
relationships with young people who now considered museums to be 
more relevant. It had also increased staff skills and confidence in 
working effectively with young people and ensured digital content 
remained relevant and engaging.

Dr Hanley suggested, if Members wanted a more detailed update at a 
future point, he could arrange for the project co-ordinator to come 
along and speak to the Committee.

The Chairman felt that this would be very useful, particularly during 
the active lifetime of the project, as opposed to a summary afterwards.

Andrew Smith then provided Members with an update on the visitor 
figures, with an additional report on Social Media which has been 
attached for information.

8/21 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 17 May 2021 at 10am were 
noted.

The meeting closed at 11.30 am
CHAIRMAN

8



Briefing Note on Kings Head Public House, Whitehart Street, Thetford

At the end of November a complaint was received by Breckland Council that work was being carried 
out at the Kings Head and that there was rubble being placed to the rear of the property. 

Officers of the Council attended the site following receipt of the complaint. 

Following the site visit the Council took action to ensure the safety of the building. 

The works on the Kings Head PH were completed on 22nd December 2020 and Whitehart Street was 
partially reopened. 

Simon Wood
Director of Planning and Building Control

 

7

Minute Item 6/20

9



Breckland Headline social media report October – December 2020

Compiled January 2021

Audiences

Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse have gained over 400 new followers across the three 
platforms since the last report in September, with a total 13,902 across Facebook, Twitter 
and Instagram – a very healthy 3% increase in three months.

Ancient House Museum of Thetford Life have gained 170 new followers, representing an 
excellent 4% increase since September. They now have a total of 4482 followers across the 
two platforms (Facebook and Twitter).

Engagement & Reach
Tracking engagement and reach/impressions tells us how many people are seeing our 
content and engaging with it. Facebook and Twitter calculate the engagement rate slightly 
differently, but expressed as a percentage it’s an indicator of how many of the people who 
saw our content (reach/impressions) went on to interact with it by liking, commenting, 
sharing, visiting our profile etc (engagements/engaged users). Generally speaking, an 
engagement rate of between 1% and 3% is considered good engagement from our 
followers.

Twitter:

Site Impressions 
Engagement 

Rate Link 
Clicks Retweets Likes Replies

Gressenhall 132.1k 1.1% 109 148 639 38
Ancient 
House 225.5k 1.8% 129 445 1700 103

Facebook:

Site Engaged Users Reach Engagement Rate

Gressenhall 7462 132,809 5.6%
Ancient House 4857 77,657 6.3%

National and NMS-wide Social Media Campaigns

Black History Month:

Ancient House shared on social media the stories of Black abolitionists who lectured in 
and around Thetford, as well as other famous figures such as Bamba Muller, Allan Noel 
Minns, and children born to British women and Black American GIs during and after the 
Second World War. They also delivered an online event ‘A Glimpse of Thetford’s Black 
History’ on 28 October. 

8

Minute Item 7/20

10



Gressenhall shared the exciting news of a decolonisation collaboration with the University 
of East Anglia, where three UEA History MA students will help the museum seek and tell 
new stories for 2021. 

Remembrance Sunday and Armistice Day:

Gressenhall remembered those affected by war, including Sergeant Ernest William 
Freezer, who died on 10 April 1918, and the women involved in the Women’s Land Army.

Ancient House shared items from their collection, including a large bronze plaque in 
memory of Frederick Ernest Crick of Thetford, who died in WW1, as well as retweeting a 
post from South Asian Heritage Month honouring the over 1.3 million Indian soldiers sent to 
fight for Britain during WW1.

November’s #ThanksToYou campaign with the National Lottery Heritage Fund:

Gressenhall’s Katy Sheard, a participant in the Kick the Dust project, thanked National 
Lottery players for the opportunities available to her through their support: “Being part of 
this has been so valuable, I've gained so much confidence and acquired new skills for my 
CV".

Ancient House were delighted to thank National Lottery players for funding some of their 
amazing projects, including Flint Rocks, Forgotten Soldiers, Festival of Norfolk and Punjab 
and Teenage History Club’s Pride Project. 

#MerryNMSmas

In December NMS celebrated the festive season on our social media platforms using the 
hashtag #MerryNMSmas:

Ancient House, partnership with Lynn Museum, made their own advent calendar (an 
object a day) running up to Christmas itself, plus a 12 Days of Christmas theme to run from 
Christmas day until 12th Night with historic information about the 12 days and associated 
traditions.

Gressenhall posted daily festive content throughout December, ranging from craft 
activities, objects from the collections, quizzes, throwback images and Christmas jokes 
from Father Christmas.

Online Events & Activities

Gressenhall:

The 30th Apple Day event at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, a beloved event of both 
staff and visitors, was held online this year. ‘Apple Day Online’ was held Sunday 11 October, 
sharing videos, creative craft ideas, delicious apple recipes, an apple variety quiz and more 
to enable visitors to enjoy this event from home. 

The More Than Oliver Twist project set out to discover the real stories of people in the 
workhouse system through the 1881 census returns. Researched and interpreted by 
volunteer researchers at six workhouse sites across The Workhouse Network, the stories 
have been used to create an amazing on-line exhibition. Working with artists, Morgan 
Tipping and Mel Rye, a digital exhibition has been created that explores 6 of these lives and 
the contemporary echoes of these historic experiences. Using recordings with researchers 
and people experiencing similar issues today, created during the first pandemic lockdown, 
the exhibitions encourage reflection on these universal issues and on how we support those 
in need today. The project has also created the largest database of poor individuals and 

911

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.norfolk.gov.uk%2Fsitecore%2520modules%2FWeb%2FEXM%2FRedirectUrlPage.aspx%3Fec_eq%3DtZKg8jKKS1eP4aOGZNzzpgkfARiiZJVRdqDdf2f4ji2a2U2Ru4o27m9dR6dVU9tYiHKmTzak%252f2Ts0STxa0K2%252bL2Gc8OOtI5AusiSc8%252fMG7rWV%252bBtL9CClLXKKiKW6U9U7SK7S2VNvIqqxb6UgRUIaEuVUT76RHVJle2yfD6NnoeGKtaEoXbiqAmapmTV5OhPcQpEW3oy6X%252b0E%252bXxQlvknkQ99NU2CE7ge9r3UMLjE%252bO%252fBYDFlggxbwQohCmbw91tQMuJa6zBILwWaiEdPL9Lv0fkm%252fnbVv8tXk889a5KFHBWFllnGICO8Hjmja%252f8eVXnwtkESamR4E7A3qKtTNGsrN7WdhD%252bSaAoM%252bAk%252b4ZeQwk%253d&data=04%7C01%7Calicia.grix%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C154f14f0787b410c669708d88d6117b8%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637414795555404210%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=T%2FLa6h47saBByXL3MZpurakvMZVl4MgJpnmLeqbEnxo%3D&reserved=0


families yet constructed to shed light on the diverse experience of the poor. The project 
created over 325 biographies of these everyday people who experienced hardship and 
support under the very first system of national welfare. This is the largest national database 
of biographies of people known at the time as “paupers”. 

For some time Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse has had a fruitful research and digital 
collaboration with Carleton College, Minnesota, USA. Recently an article entitled 
‘Reconsidering Poor Law Institutions’ was published by the Historical Journal, which grew 
out of the collaboration. The work is also featured in the Cambridge Core blog in the post 
‘Bringing the Past to (Virtual) Life’. Gressenhall is acknowledged in both, with Susannah 
Ottaway, Professor of History at the College, kindly describing the partnership as a 
‘phenomenal experience’. 

Unable to host our Victorian Family Christmas at Gressenhall this year, the team provided 
a host of festive activities to enjoy from the comfort of home. From printable colouring and 
craft activities to cookery videos, jokes and storytelling hosted by Scrooge himself, viewers 
could create their own Victorian Christmas at home.

Father Christmas with Bowler the Suffolk Punch at Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse

Ancient House Museum of Thetford Life:

Ancient House was chosen as a hub for OUTing the Past 2021: an International Festival of 
Lesbian Gay Bisexual & Trans History comprising events throughout the year and around 
the world, and a conference and gathering for academics and activists once a year in 
February. Ancient House joins other hubs across the UK and the world. The conference 
programme will be selected by Teenage History Club building on their Pride of the People 
work and will run on 19 February 2021. Due to the ongoing uncertainty over Covid-19 the 
conference will run digitally. Melissa Hawker, Learning Officer is working with LGBT+ History 
Month to run a teachers’ CPD session and Primary Pupils Conference alongside OUTing the 
Past in February too.

1012

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.norfolk.gov.uk%2Fsitecore%2520modules%2FWeb%2FEXM%2FRedirectUrlPage.aspx%3Fec_eq%3DuH75tqrRiGUgJqWVRVPQs1NTu0eKwhvhqTAY7XTHC2IFkOjVwVZWEbFnrAKVSwUw%252fDVjrwtdJJ0GJIprhWA7q3FbUIAR2AJt3lCPY2YMQB2aJhHH1ObED9GPXtJV%252bj%252bShRUWIZDdUaIW9cIKHcPwTOLIYviRQ0%252bJZl7zL5XMx1h6%252bBDEmAf37Xre0deJhOj%252bMSo44GilJq8M10FLDKoAK2iZ3O859KB%252bWICvXLivyvBemPFtWc37Ybk4t8IER1DnNK3pzlAIQSCfDJQR10eYDs5pmIthHqV3iGv3eEgO%252bNHY%252bsR5Y8xRJj5DVoiFDxi6KgnRxX4utPktgAa2cE%252bIDhByR%252bmOYy%252bCwzCnbV3BihY%253d&data=04%7C01%7Calicia.grix%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C154f14f0787b410c669708d88d6117b8%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637414795555414162%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zZsBiKxA9dFkNnlP8inULeWgwsGXuYZh48Tai0uBIU0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.norfolk.gov.uk%2Fsitecore%2520modules%2FWeb%2FEXM%2FRedirectUrlPage.aspx%3Fec_eq%3DuH75tqrRiGUgJqWVRVPQs1NTu0eKwhvhqTAY7XTHC2IFkOjVwVZWEbFnrAKVSwUw%252fDVjrwtdJJ0GJIprhWA7q3FbUIAR2AJt3lCPY2YMQB2aJhHH1ObED9GPXtJV%252bj%252bShRUWIZDdUaIW9cIKHcPwTOLIYviRQ0%252bJZl7zL5XMx1h6%252bBDEmAf37Xre0deJhOj%252bMSo44GilJq8M10FLDKoAK2iZ3O859KB%252bWICvXLivyvBemPFtWc37Ybk4t8IER1DnNK3pzlAIQSCfDJQR10eYDs5pmIthHqV3iGv3eEgO%252bNHY%252bsR5Y8xRJj5DVoiFDxi6KgnRxX4utPktgAa2cE%252bIDhByR%252bmOYy%252bCwzCnbV3BihY%253d&data=04%7C01%7Calicia.grix%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C154f14f0787b410c669708d88d6117b8%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637414795555414162%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zZsBiKxA9dFkNnlP8inULeWgwsGXuYZh48Tai0uBIU0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.norfolk.gov.uk%2Fsitecore%2520modules%2FWeb%2FEXM%2FRedirectUrlPage.aspx%3Fec_eq%3DSB72GavgMA9scprW6Du%252bHnQ3hhx9xPVf01O2uOwrmyQy8imO3vrolsgXG5h7OZAOOtgKGEOUMx3se8%252fW3ca9F0dhRhSDWQhmSUXZe4dkMSU50ulUoxaZJnALgmizuhMTTeOeqhkzpUseaAzOczWLBtA2IfoWdCSv049VL2o0%252bpaOdEHVeejtV8WcCxgZYtZHcSfeVZL42OHsTcu2MEM4rYe%252f33QDkGQBRmAHs94O952PFlJtK7uuh8oSZ986Ga%252bZ91yPQpHZ2S1%252bK2vcis4kpLT4lEiAkNgvw3%252fT9N3HDottCcfesRmIXuW4KEHiCxWGOhw2DdW3gUfqoei%252b0iHyq3%252bh1uhp8PnwGY2FoJDu6PSCJ7M8EyL%252fPsDJqaTUIqDRZ6LQAxjrYxZFMHFOuXB1ARscnp9qnf8cVLoY2haxK9knCmbRvggnSqpjlDo4Vjs28tKZ%252fVdb6gSjZJG0q9TfmKHrJ4T9kdwT8XhYMquL7hv73BXCqx%252fozoglo8s%252fDTxZORtPLK84UtwQQzl17DI%252fFMHd%252fLIuqyz7C%252bJky6QmqaI5R45m0lhJGohZr5W95jYeUWDG1EtCD%252fRrEdrb%252fBPlgmSJFKp70udRzokM2V4tr8To45WvwfHy7%252fGwMMe5W7mvY0JvGM90m42zxvnUIn2bBikPSH9ssM5o4PeknMj1KtkCgoGCeX6%252b2QDH1cePeo1JOlH4yXle1FWH2RdBpBnFiO1s9YvezaEJH3BsPSy8zU1GVQTQ%252f%252fYjzwl2iJTWS6gMBogDK6yFOc8Wd9nAVG8RiyYi4%252fL09dAhaaNWNAlEH0rOWLvRQ32VTDuJVDY1iVi4dobHb24Bdlt2EHyyUdIxLreJnCVNnr5KLBPJ9fhNll0YIdRWmvJNt59iS6usNCq6AMM7F5YLp84gUHyrVPmBo8U0mdBGEhdkBqThAKeNTFVYuZnI3gWFCsAFsD982a2zTJ%252b4B7bpo9C4BsHwf03WeHwp%252fc5XkkB6MkRIOYEtipccVAktiK01%252fAZiKkgZ4WSLoHbGSp7VBRLph5ubCXalVIf76jc1%252f9JrmnlefWpvPgK%252fYhijS7kKZroJk5z7ogQTJOwq4dxJbcoj56hO19hTaxqqYzp3F62G8bRVYl66XxY%253d&data=04%7C01%7Calicia.grix%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C51f299e580294f0b343308d89dda9738%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637432909461634990%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=jRYwhPoS%2Fkst54tV8LImB%2BrNoGhJru8LQvq2mLhLHwY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.norfolk.gov.uk%2Fsitecore%2520modules%2FWeb%2FEXM%2FRedirectUrlPage.aspx%3Fec_eq%3D4pTBneARN8XY9rSXc4HUIvsX%252f6Rg2bEI%252b%252fG%252feXjaCcmOJUt5l8KZPcJTxzOayHg8iiFSHlk19P8XnzosUudfr1pMIaoGBYoWGHhRehdJZ3AlaiTWm9Y3LuD6yrZ0Q78BNSxaZGl%252fktGozgzyCsdQLxkV9%252fNRk0K0Gi47RIscp1MCaVs4P1RCUKirRdiKakGjR4iuCOqJOc8c8Hr1ho5VCKGymlyt0wLIKcR7pEthNDBRihSTQQK3qGgrtJCYj21qjfv1xIsW9oYz1KuvqQ0LT1Ts1OiSb%252bgECdVInTJd3MoGB8pdbh1vJFhekx7YipmUrwkfa3a3ju%252btll4zXpnyUX0cJj8PUrgWsXGmW%252f8UDxxwHJLAO4pYav%252b2HCVk0vdNLQru5cuc4CZogq6nGzB3KB0x%252frqE9%252fIHpvbbC%252bRTVuDo6x0m9tMt%252bCjQKbkCeglQhZj8SXK5ZugkQZy6K2snFP22rAkmWt8XQCb8p0DnTjC2vWLsAh4xxgNO5I2nQoArYHQwBMNuroCB8jum3LF%252bOfjwIwo37rPneOQMlBIOMJB74KlZXs1ymPuwydf2So9EnmToGvdjpPGw12ZwSdRjUm4n2j39NEzHIuX%252bYRRFHAVzLV2q%252bQRiFYRx0gY0dW3VjWYcIiphTB7Fq%252bzp8C4%252foBkgD0F2xBOSXkxe2v3Xybb2xxZDMRVqLFuJk30fv8IO%252bcrQe6hzMkGocWVX87%252buI4wUeaHC%252fF%252fYyFoIPjc4GDLdGM%252bEoe0QTp9CZcE42LxTk8wcyjPsn1J9Y0VZ8M7FkxJBu4dvlPAQC9BOauNAnSpRCAXH63jRXX4jcRcn79BNeNaxK%252bOk1kDEbkhVIZi6rpiSn%252bLnoZZseyHhvmFoa%252bg94rlEe5GG0m%252fyHTULGSA3r1nrv4%252bzxxog6J43u3293X1h6vODiK6eUxNPqgpq8WWLzBUonkrKRzpiubgxEAE8rHyRg%252bNk628LzIx0DVfgwXsuyJ4%252bXJa7wspO4GPjUkd%252bG6DRsHyHmEa2%252fEFuS5a%252bXRczG46mBuXOU5iKjY5AyQ%253d%253d&data=04%7C01%7Calicia.grix%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C51f299e580294f0b343308d89dda9738%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637432909461644940%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=lwp4zhLlTeOFFIkV%2BEzr9sBtfX3jy7iB4iRc22Km8u8%3D&reserved=0


A digital event, A Glimpse of Thetford’s Black History, was held on 28 October as part of 
Black History Month, highlighting aspects of Thetford’s Black history. 

Ancient House has been ‘beaming into classrooms’, with opportunities for schools to 
interact with costumed characters including a Roman soldier and a Stuart woman. For 
Forest Academy, we talked to three classes about Garbology, the study of ancient rubbish, 
and with support from the curatorial team was able to help them identify the objects they had 
excavated from their Forest Schools site, including a crucible and a range of Victorian 
perfume and medicine bottles.

Ancient House and Lynn Museum took part in UK Parliament Week in November. Melissa 
Hawker, Learning Officer gave a talk on Votes for Women with a focus on Norfolk women’s 
contributions to the fight for women’s rights, including Helen Dexter (pictured above) and the 
Duleep Singh Princesses. The talk was delivered via a Zoom webinar and attendees came 
from across Norfolk, the Midlands and some from India. One of the participants emailed this 
feedback: “Just to say how marvellous last night's Votes for Women presentation was.A 
most interesting talk (really enjoyed the "local" connections). I appreciated all the "graphics" 
too - they made the historical aspect so pertinent. Thank you again and I look forward to - 
hopefully - more events like this.”

An online talk ‘Did the Victorians invent Christmas?’ was held via Zoom on 9 December, 
focusing on the many Christmas traditions which have their origin in the 1840s, including 
crackers and Christmas cards. The participants particular enjoyed the more unusual 
Christmas cards, for example one featuring children riding bats!

1113



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRECKLAND 
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

 
14 September 2021  Item No. 

 
ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT 

 
Report by the Curator, Ancient House Museum 

 
      

 
 
 
 
 
1.  COVID-19 Service update 
 
1.1   Following a long period of closure caused by the Coronavirus pandemic, 

the Ancient House reopened to the public on 22 June 2021. Full safety 
measures have been put in place including hand sanitising facilities, 
additional ventilation and clearly signed routes. Staff have been trained in 
safe systems of working to operate the museum safely, including 
implementation of additional cleaning measures. Staff are provided with 
any identified PPE and a protective screen has been installed at the 
museum reception.  Visits can be pre-booked using timed tickets available 
from the Art Tickets website. To accommodate social distancing, site 
visitor capacity has been reduced.  
 

1.2   All Norfolk Museums Service (NMS) museums closed to visitors on 19 
March 2020 as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. The majority of NMS 
non frontline staff have been working remotely from home since this time. 
Following a phased COVID-secure reopening of four NMS museum sites 
including Norwich Castle during July and August 2020, all NMS closed 
again from 5 November 2020 as part of the second national lockdown. 
Following the announcement that Norfolk would be in Tier 2, three NMS 
sites reopened to the public on Thursday 3 December 2020. These sites 
were Norwich Castle, Time & Tide Museum and Lynn Museum, with the 
seasonal site at Gressenhall remaining closed until the start of the 2021 
season. Following the announcement that Norfolk would be in Tier 4 from 
Boxing Day, all NMS sites closed again with effect from 24 December 
2020. Following the government announcement that indoor museums 
could reopen from 17 May 2021 as part of Roadmap Step 3, seven NMS 
sites reopened to visitors in the week beginning 17 May. These sites were 

This report provides information on activities at 
Ancient House, Museum of Thetford Life from 
January 2021 – August 2021 

 

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Oliver Bone on 01842 752599 and we will do 
our best to help 

14

Agenda Item 8



Norwich Castle, the Museum of Norwich, Lynn Museum, Time & Tide 
Museum, the Elizabethan House Museum, Cromer Museum and 
Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse (outdoor areas at Gressenhall had 
reopened on 12 April under Step 2). Subsequently, museum reopenings 
have taken place at Ancient House Museum and Strangers’ Hall. All legal 
restrictions specific to museums were removed by the Government with 
effect from 19 July 2021 (Step 4).  
 

1.3   Despite the ending of legal restrictions on 19 July, many of the existing 
COVID-secure systems and procedures remain in place, with a focus on 
keeping staff and visitors safe through minimising the risk of transmission. 
Visitors are being requested (rather than legally required) to follow these 
procedures. The key changes to NMS procedures include: 
• The wearing of face coverings by visitors and staff is now “expected 

and recommended” rather than required by law 
• 2m social distancing is no longer a requirement. Visitors are instead 

being requested to abide by “respectful distancing” from other visitors 
and staff 

• Test & Trace venue check-in is now advisory rather than a legal 
requirement 

• The pre-booking of tickets is no longer a requirement, but is now 
recommended. Walk-in visits are permitted where there is sufficient site 
capacity 

• Site capacity limits have been increased (previously averaging 30% of 
normal capacity) and pre-booked ticket slots adjusted to accommodate 
an overall increase in visitor numbers. 

• Priority on-site activities have resumed including delivery to schools 
and young people. Some on-site public events have also resumed. All 
such activities are still the subject of strict COVID-19 procedures, with 
Safe Systems of Work being created to protect staff and visitors. 

 
1.4   In terms of the COVID-19 procedures and systems that remain in place 

across NMS sites, the priorities remain: 
• Ventilation – maintaining existing ventilation arrangements to maximise 

fresh air flow including supplementary air purifiers at relevant sites 
• Cleaning regimes – maintaining enhanced cleaning arrangements 

including toilets and regular touch points 
• Hand sanitisation – maintaining existing sanitiser stations and 

encourage regular hand sanitisation/hand washing. Additional hand 
sanitiser stations are being introduced where required (e.g. near 
reactivated interactives) 

 
1.5   Many museum activities and services, including general visits and school 

visits, have been severely impacted due to COVID-19. NMS staff have 
been involved in supporting key work relating to the Norfolk County 
Council’s (NCC) COVID-19 response, including helping to coordinate 
volunteer activities, managing the distribution of food and medicine to 
residents who needed this support, and making telephone calls to 
identified vulnerable residents. NMS staff have also been helping with 

15



other COVID response work including supporting the work of the NHS and 
the NCC Trading Standards and Registrars’ teams. 
 

1.6   Throughout the period of the pandemic, NMS staff have developed a 
broad range of digital resources to support audiences, including resources 
for children and families. Digital engagement included a significant 
expansion of social media activity. Resources continue to be made 
available for those in digital poverty or without ready access to digital 
content. 
 

1.7   The enormous range of NMS activity during the period of COVID-19 
disruption continues to be captured in the weekly Museums Mardle staff e-
newsletter. A reminder that members of the committee can be added to 
this distribution list on request.  
 

1.8   The reopening of museum sites during 2020 and 2021 followed the 
implementation of strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were reviewed 
and signed-off by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing team. 
Reopening also took place in accordance with sector-specific guidance 
issued by the National Museums Directors Council and in liaison with the 
English Civic Museums Network.  
 

1.9   Staff training has taken place at all NMS sites in advance of reopening. 
Staff are provided with any identified PPE and protective screens remain in 
place at key points. Enhanced staffing levels ensure that visitors can be 
provided with the necessary level of support and advice. Refresher training 
for staff took place in advance of the reopening of museum sites. 

 
1.10 During periods of site closure, all NMS sites were the subject of regular 

premises, security and collections condition checks. Statutory 
maintenance continued, as did essential construction and maintenance 
works, with strict COVID-19 management procedures in place. 

 
1.11 The Ancient House had a short temporary closure period between 6-14 

August caused by a number of staff having to self-isolate following a close 
contact with a positive COVID-19 case.  All those affected undertook the 
required period of isolation to reduce the risk of further spread of the virus 
and the museum reopened on 17 August.  All those who had booked to 
visit during this period were contacted and given refunds. 

 
 

2 Building Works at former King’s Head pub, next door to the Ancient 
House 
 
Building works at the former King’s Head pub, a listed building next door to 
the Ancient House, caused disruption to the museum last winter.  The 
King’s Head remains covered in scaffolding following the involvement of 
Breckland District Council and the Health and Safety Executive. 
 

16



As a result of the neighbouring works, the museum had to alter plans for the 
safe return of school groups and the Teenage History Club in December 
2020.  The museum team also had to carry out additional conservation 
cleaning prior to reopening.   

 
For the information of the Committee, Prince Frederick Duleep Singh gave the 
Ancient House to the Borough of Thetford on 3 September 1921 as a charity 
(‘Public Museum’).  The trustee of the charity is Breckland Council.  The 
museum is maintained and operated as part of the Norfolk Museums Service 
through the Norfolk Joint Museums Agreement. Maintenance of the museum 
is undertaken by Norse through the Total Facilities Management (TFM) 
agreement.  The TFM manager liaises with the Breckland Council’s Historic 
Buildings officer on the care of this grade one listed building. 
 
3 Exhibitions and associated events 
3.1 Studio Ceramics, until 10 July 2021 
The first weeks of reopening of the Ancient House gave visitors a last chance 
to see the Studio Ceramics exhibition.  This featured a selection of studio 
pottery from the NMS decorative art collections curated by Senior Curator Dr 
Francesca Vanke. Museum staff carefully packed the pots for transport.  
Some of the ceramics have gone on to Stories of Lynn at King’s Lynn Town 
Hall for exhibition there. 
 
3.2 Thetford Treasure (22 July 2021 – 29 January 2022) 
The current exhibition at Ancient House is The Thetford Treasure.  The 
display features items from the late Roman hoard of inscribed and decorated 
silver spoons and gold jewellery including the well-known gold belt buckle 
decorated by the figure of a dancing satyr, a Roman mythical creature. The 
objects were installed by staff from the British Museum alongside members of 
the NMS team. The Ancient House benefits from high security display cases 
in the changing displays room which enables loans from national collections. 
Norfolk Museums Service is grateful to the Trustees of the British Museum for 
the loan of the Thetford Treasure. 
 

 
Roman gold belt buckle from the Thetford Treasure 

17



In addition to the Thetford hoard of gold and silver, the exhibition also features 
a rare hoard of Roman glass and pewter objects from Hockwold, carefully 
conserved by NMS conservators. 
 

 
Roman glass from Hockwold on display at Ancient House  
 
The BBC have covered the Thetford Treasure display on the BBC website, 
Radio Norfolk and Look East TV news. The exhibition has also been coved in 
local newspapers.  This publicity has helped boost visitor numbers.  
 
3.3 Brecks River and Fen Edge landscape project.   
The Ancient House is part the Lottery-funded Brecks River and Fen Edge 
(BFER) landscape project. The Scheme won a £2m National Lottery Heritage 
Fund grant as part of the proposal for a £3.5m landscape conservation 
scheme.  The project is engaging local communities, schools and like-minded 
organisations to understand, reveal, celebrate and protect the lost heritage of 
the Brecks’ Fen Edge & Rivers over the next 5 years.  The Ancient House 
Museum will receive funding as a partner organisation to produce exhibitions 
and activities in 2022 and 2023 on the themes of Vikings and Riverside 
Heritage.   
 
The Vikings exhibition will be part of the ‘River Raiders’ strand.  Museum staff 
are working with the team at BFER and Dr Richard Hoggett to curate the 
exhibition.  The project is involving members of the Teenage History Group in 
choosing artefacts and themes for display as ‘community curators’.  The 
Ancient House is requesting loans of material from other museum collections 
for the exhibition, guided by input from the young people. 
 
3.4 Duleep Singh Gallery Feasibility  
Feasibility work continues for creating new displays at Ancient House to make 
more of the unusual connections between the Museum and the Maharajah 
Duleep Singh and his family, especially his son Prince Frederick Duleep 
Singh.  There is currently a target date of 2024 for this work, which links to the 

18



100th anniversary of the opening of the museum. New displays at Ancient 
House will complement the plans for interpretation at Thetford Guildhall with 
Thetford Town Council.  
 
4 Learning with Adults, Children and Young People 
The national COVID-19 lockdowns caused all face-to-face activities delivered 
at the Ancient House to cease with the focus shifting to digital delivery.   
This included a series of ‘Quiz a Character’ sessions with the delivery of a 
workshop to a school via Zoom. Children have for example been invited to 
meet Mary Jane, the lady’s maid to Maharani Bamba at Elveden Hall and also 
Maggie the Munitionette. 
 
Following careful risk assessment and with reduced group sizes to allow for 
social distancing, school workshops for pre-booked groups started up again 
from 17 May 2021. The Museum hosted an on-line meeting of the Brecks 
Heritage Schools Network on 23 June 2021. 
 
5 Digital events and activities 
5.1 Social media  
Museum staff have continued to use the Ancient House social media 
presence for keeping up communication with audiences during 2021. Twitter 
and Facebook accounts are both maintained by members of the small team. 
The Museum’s social media feeds use a variety of ways to share content 
about the museum’s collections, activities and local stories. Particular themes 
over the recent period have included: #MyLocalMuseum, #MuseumofDan 
(one of the museum volunteers), #HeritageTreasures (with the National 
Lottery Heritage Fund); #PrideMonth2021, #CitizenScience #VolunteerWeek 
#FlintFriday, #WatercolourWednesday. 
 
The Ancient House Museum accounts continue to grow with the Twitter 
account having 3,461 followers with Facebook having 1,489 follows. 
 
The Museum’s Twitter page may be seen here: 
https://twitter.com/AncientHouseMus 
The Museum’s Facebook page may be seen here 
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/ 
 
 
5.2 Creation of films about local history and museum activity 
Staff have developed the Ancient House YouTube channel to include  
77 short films, many of which have been created during the pandemic period. 
The link lists the Museum’s films on YouTube:  
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCKWo8PNwK0pj-
swIIebFBqw/playlists?disable_polymer=1 
 
5.3  Watchalongs 
Museum staff developed several ‘watchalong’ events for people to join in from 
their own homes.  These were done in partnership with other museums. The 
Paddington 2 watchalaong took place on 17 January 2021 and an episode of 
Dad’s Army was watched on 13 February 2021.  These events provided 

19

https://twitter.com/AncientHouseMus
https://www.facebook.com/AncientHouseMuseum/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCKWo8PNwK0pj-swIIebFBqw/playlists?disable_polymer=1
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCKWo8PNwK0pj-swIIebFBqw/playlists?disable_polymer=1


opportunities to share local history and museum collections content through 
Twitter in a light-hearted way. 
 
5.4  Online talks and events 
The Museum has provided a programme live online talks provided using the 
Zoom webinar function  
 
In association with the Museum Friends, Dan Morgan spoke on Victorian Toy 
Theatres on 13 April, Mike Wabe spoke about Town Criers on 11 May and 
Annette Morgan spoke about A Landscape Speaks, her textile work inspired 
by Sutton Hoo on 7 June. 
 
In addition, Prof Lucy Bland spoke on Britain’s Brown Babies, stories of 
babies born out of wedlock to black GIs and white British Women on 24 
February.  Gurinder Singh Mann spoke about The British and the Sikhs on 22 
June. Dr Sumita Mukherjee gave a talk on Indian suffragettes on 8 August 
and Dr Priya Atwal spoke on Maharajah Duleep Singh’s early life in Royals 
and Rebels on 22 July as part of South Asian Heritage Month, in association 
with the Essex Cultural Diversity Project. 
 

 
Tweet promoting the talk by Dr Sumita Mukherjee 
 
In conjunction with Lynn Museum, a family presentation of A Sherlock Holmes 
Investigates was given by Jonathan Goodwin from Cellar Theatre on Saturday 
22 May. 
 
5.5 Teenage History Club 
NMS Learning Officer Melissa Hawker has continued to run the Teenage 
History Club from a distance with weekly Zoom get togethers during 2020.  
The young people were able to return to the museum as part of the easing of 
restrictions in the early summer. 
 

20



6 Other Museum Developments 
6.1 Volunteers 
Volunteering at the museum is currently suspended due to COVID-19 
restrictions. It is anticipated that indoor volunteering will begin to recommence 
across NMS sites during the autumn. 
 
6.2 Textile groups 
Members of the Museum’s ‘Knit and Knatter’ groups are currently making 
knitted Roman mythical creatures for use in the Thetford Treasure exhibition. 
 
6.3  Friends of the Museum 
The Friends of the Museum continue to support the Museum through 
fundraising and promoting the Museum in the town. The talks programme has 
gone on-line.  The summer social was held in person as a garden party, which 
was much appreciated by members. 
 
6.4  Teaching Museum Trainee Scheme 
The Ancient House has continued to host a paid traineeship, provided through 
the NMS Teaching Museum programme.  The traineeship is funded through 
the NMS Arts Council England National Portfolio Organisation 2018-2022 
Business Plan. Current trainee Sami Yusuf has had a different experience for 
his traineeship with much support of digital delivery work over the past 18 
months. He has also been able to contribute to the reopening of the museum, 
assisted with fundraising, documentation improvement, work on the postcard 
collection acquisition and exhibition changes. Sami has recently succeeded in 
securing a position in Norfolk Museums Service in the development office and 
staff wish him every success in his museum career. 
 
6.5  David Osborne’s postcard collection acquisition 
The Ancient House has purchased the David Osborne postcard collection of 
1,155 cards of Thetford views from the 1870s to the present day following 
successful fundraising.   A new display has been made in the museum with a 
screen to show a selection of images.   
 

 
 
The late David Osborne, photographed in 2007 with one  
of the postcard albums acquired by the Ancient House  

21



7 Visitor Numbers   
 
7.1 Up to date visitor figures will be circulated at the meeting. 

 
 

8 Resource implications 
 
(a) Finance   None 
(b) Property   None 
(c) Staff    None 
(d) Information Technology None 
 
 
9 Recommendations: 
 
That the Area Museums Committee notes the report 
 
Originator of report: 
Oliver Bone 
Curator 
Ancient House Museum of Thetford Life 
Tel: 01842 752599 e-mail: oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk  
 

22

mailto:oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRECKLAND 
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE 

 
14 September 2021  Item No. 

 
GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT 

 
Report by the Operations Manager – West 

 
    

1. Temporary Closure of Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse Museum 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic 

 
1.1 All Norfolk Museums Service (NMS) museums closed to visitors on 19 

March 2020 as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. The majority of 
NMS non frontline staff have been working remotely from home since 
this time. Following a phased COVID-19 secure reopening of four NMS 
museum sites including Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse during July 
and August 2020, all NMS sites closed again from 5 November 2020 
as part of the second national lockdown. Following the announcement 
that Norfolk would be in Tier 2, three NMS sites reopened to the public 
on Thursday 3 December 2020. These sites were Norwich Castle, 
Time & Tide Museum and Lynn Museum, with the seasonal site at 
Gressenhall remaining closed until the start of the 2021 season. 
Following the announcement that Norfolk would be in Tier 4 from 
Boxing Day, all NMS sites closed again with effect from 24 December 
2020. Following the government announcement that indoor museums 
could legally reopen from 17 May 2021 as part of Roadmap Step 3, 
seven NMS sites reopened to visitors in the week beginning 17 May. 
These sites were Norwich Castle, the Museum of Norwich, Lynn 
Museum, Time & Tide Museum, the Elizabethan House Museum, 
Cromer Museum and Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse (outdoor areas 
at Gressenhall had reopened on 12 April under Step 2). Subsequently, 
museum reopenings have taken place at Ancient House Museum and 
Strangers’ Hall. 
 

1.2 Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse was closed until the spring as a 
seasonal site but was able to reopen as an outdoor only attraction on 
Monday 12 April 2021 as the government’s roadmap for easing 

This report provides information on activities at Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse from January to August 2021. 

 

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Andrew Smith on 01362 869254 and we will 
do our best to help 

23

Agenda Item 9



COVID-19 restrictions moved forwards. This enabled staff to offer 
visitors pre-booked tickets to access the farm, adventure playground 
and site grounds including the centenary wood, apple orchard and 
riverside walks as part of step 2 of the roadmap. The café was able to 
offer take-away refreshments and full toilet facilities were available. All 
other indoor spaces remained closed until 17 May. Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse Museum fully reopened on this date with the majority 
of indoor spaces available to visitors.  
 

1.3 Despite the ending of legal restrictions on 19 July, many of the existing 
COVID-secure systems and procedures remain in place, with a focus 
on keeping staff and visitors safe through minimising the risk of 
transmission. Visitors are being requested (rather than legally required) 
to follow these procedures. The key changes to NMS procedures 
include: 

• The wearing of face coverings by visitors and staff is now “expected 
and recommended” rather than required by law 

• 2m social distancing is no longer a requirement. Visitors are instead 
being requested to abide by “respectful distancing” from other visitors 
and staff 

• Test & Trace venue check-in is now advisory rather than a legal 
requirement 

• The pre-booking of tickets is no longer a requirement but is now 
recommended. Walk-in visits are permitted where there is sufficient site 
capacity 

• Site capacity limits have been increased (previously averaging 30% of 
normal capacity) and pre-booked ticket slots adjusted to accommodate 
an overall increase in visitor numbers. 

• Priority on-site activities have resumed including delivery to schools 
and young people. Some on-site public events have also resumed. All 
such activities are still the subject of strict COVID-19 procedures, with 
Safe Systems of Work being created to protect staff and visitors. 

• All legal restrictions specific to museums were removed by the 
Government with effect from 19 July 2021 (Step 4). 
 

1.4 In terms of the COVID-19 procedures and systems that remain in place 
across NMS sites, the priorities remain: 

• Ventilation – maintaining existing ventilation arrangements to maximise 
fresh air flow including supplementary air purifiers at relevant sites 

• Cleaning regimes – maintaining enhanced cleaning arrangements 
including toilets and regular touch points 

• Hand sanitisation – maintaining existing sanitiser stations and 
encourage regular hand sanitisation/hand washing. Additional hand 
sanitiser stations are being introduced where required (e.g. near 
reactivated interactives) 
 

1.5 Many museum activities and services, including general visits and 
school visits, have been severely impacted due to COVID-19. NMS 
staff have been involved in supporting key work relating to the Norfolk 

24



County Council’s (NCC) COVID-19 response, including helping to 
coordinate volunteer activities, managing the distribution of food and 
medicine to residents who needed this support, and making telephone 
calls to identified vulnerable residents. NMS staff have also been 
helping with other COVID response work including supporting the work 
of the NHS and the NCC Trading Standards and Registrars’ teams. 
 

1.6 Throughout the period of the pandemic, NMS staff have developed a 
broad range of digital resources to support audiences, including 
resources for children and families. Digital engagement included a 
significant expansion of social media activity. Resources continue to be 
made available for those in digital poverty or without ready access to 
digital content. 
  

1.7 The enormous range of NMS activity during lockdown is being captured 
in the weekly Museums Mardle staff e-newsletter. Members of the 
committee can be added to this distribution list on request.  

 
1.8 The reopening of museum sites during 2020 and 2021 followed the 

implementation of strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were 
reviewed and signed-off by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing 
team. Reopening also took place in accordance with sector-specific 
guidance issued by the National Museums Directors Council and in 
liaison with the English Civic Museums Network. 

  
1.9 Staff training has taken place at all NMS sites, including Gressenhall, in 

advance of reopening. Staff are provided with any identified PPE and 
protective screens remain in place at key points. Enhanced staffing 
levels ensure that visitors can be provided with the necessary level of 
support and advice. Refresher training for staff took place in advance of 
the reopening of museum sites. 

 
1.10 During periods of site closure, all NMS sites were the subject of regular 

premises, security and collections condition checks. Statutory 
maintenance continued, as did essential construction and maintenance 
works, with strict COVID-19 management procedures in place. 

 
 
2. Events and Activities  
 
2.1 Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse has been able to recommence 

event activities and offer an exciting programme since April 2021.        
The 2021 events programme offers a broad range of activities based 
around four operational models. This programme was re-established in 
April using an amended COVID-19 secure self-led format, which 
minimised contacts outside family groups or visitor group bubbles: 
• Special Event days – major events which require full event staffing 

and set up, including the use of large parking fields. For 2021, these 
are: Heritage Open Day & Apple Day.  

25



A premium ticket price applies for the latter event day to reflect the 
high level of activities taking place. Free admission continues to be 
provided to Norfolk Museums Pass holders.  

• Days with a Difference – smaller themed events including Fun for all 
the Family.  These require smaller staffing complement and utilise 
core parking.  They are aimed at attracting audiences of 500-800 
visitors. Again, they are offered free to Norfolk Museums Pass 
holders. 

• Norfolk School Holiday activities – extra themed activities delivered 
each day of the Norfolk School holidays, with minimal increase in 
staffing.  Free to Norfolk Museums Pass holders.  

• Ticketed Events – pre-booked and pre-paid events.  For 2021, 
these include Outdoor Theatre, Bat Walk & Victorian Family 
Christmas. These events, held outside of standard opening hours or 
out of the main season, offer a reduced charge to Norfolk Museums 
Pass holders.  

• Gressenhall organises several leisure learning short courses 
throughout the year. The first course offered this year is Create a 
terrarium: A workshop for children due to be held on Thursday 28 
October 

• In addition to the above, Gressenhall has also been offering stand-
alone activities on weekend days to help drive visitor numbers this 
summer. Activities are run in house and include Art Attack crafting 
along with Demonstration Sunday sessions throughout the school 
holiday period. There has also been a flypast of a spitfire from the 
Battle of Britain Memorial Flight on the bank holiday Monday in 
August. 
 

2.2 During this period there has been a focus on digital delivery as an 
alternative means of engaging with both existing and new audiences. 
This continues with social media posts following a new dedicated 
programme of themes. Digital resources created by the Events, 
Learning and Curatorial teams are continuing to be uploaded on a 
regular basis to social media platforms and the Gressenhall website.    
        

2.3 The costs of delivering and marketing the Gressenhall event 
programme continues to be subsidised with funding from Arts Council 
England (ACE) as part of the 2018-22 Norfolk Museums Service ACE 
business plan as a National Portfolio Organisation.   

 
2.4 The Gressenhall events programme is promoted via a specific piece of 

print, as well as an increased programme of digital marketing including 
Facebook and Google adverts and the museum’s own social media 
presence. All changes to the Gressenhall events programme have 
been communicated via social media, Art Tickets and the Gressenhall 
website.  
 
 
 
 

26



3. Other Museum Developments 
 
3.1 The previous Curator at Gressenhall, Dr Megan Dennis, left NMS in the 

summer to take up a new position with the National Trust. Megan had 
been part of the team for 13 years and had helped develop the 
collections, the galleries and the volunteer base at the museum during 
her tenure. A new Curator has now been recruited - Rachel Kidd joins 
us in November once she completes her notice period with her current 
employer, the Norwich Historic Churches Trust.  
 

3.2 During the interim period, Dayna Woolbright, the NMS Assistant 
Curator at Lynn Museum, is working one day per week to support the 
Gressenhall collections and complete conservation checks on a 
temporary basis until the new Curator takes up her full curatorial role. 
To date, Dayna has undertaken the following work: 

 
• Integrated Pest Management (IPM) – Sticky insect traps, known as 

‘blunder traps’ are used to monitor insect activity in the museum 
and stores. Traps are checked four times a year and the insects 
collected are documented. Increased insect activity in an area can 
alert us to an infestation. The traps were checked in July and there 
were no causes for concern. The next review is scheduled for 
November. 
 

• Re-installed the costume display in the Laundry 
 

 
New costume displays in the Gressenhall laundry 

27



• Deep clean – In July staff worked with colleagues from the NMS 
Conservation and a group of NMS Teaching Museum Trainees to 
carry out a deep clean of the four Gressenhall collections stores 
and library.  
 

• Women’s Land Army gallery – Following building and electrical 
works, the gallery has been cleaned and plans are underway to 
reinstate the collections. Gressenhall staff and the NMS 
conservation team are working to ensure the lighting is at a suitable 
level to display costume and paper ephemera. The textile items are 
currently being frozen as a precaution prior to install. 

 
• Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse Disaster Preparedness kit – This 

kit contains essential PPE, tools and equipment needed to respond 
to an incident on site involving collections. The kit has been audited, 
and materials replaced as required. New signage is about to be 
installed and ‘call out kits’ for those on the call out list are under 
development. 

 
• Village Row – Refresh of the Village Row Post Office which 

involved making and installing set dress items.  
 

 
The updated Post Office displays 
 

• Enquiries – Staff continue to answer enquiries from members of the 
public. Typically, these include collections queries, offers for gift and 
images sales. Staff have recently provided images for a forthcoming 
publication on East Anglian folk art. 

 

28



3.3 The temporary exhibition for 2021, More in Commons, was installed in 
March ready for visitors to enjoy once the main workhouse building 
reopened in May. This exhibition sees Gressenhall working in 
partnership with the Norfolk Wildlife Trust, who are celebrating their 
95th birthday. The exhibition is a celebration of the wildlife, history and 
community of Norfolk’s common land and starts with a community 
designed 3D sculpture created by volunteers working remotely, which 
directs people to the main exhibition in the Collections Gallery. The 
main exhibition display explores the wildlife, history and community 
groups that use common land and examines what the future holds for 
Norfolk’s green, unenclosed spaces. There is also a Robert Kett 
scarecrow featured in the Cherry Tree Cottage garden.  
 

3.4 Staff have created several online versions of previous temporary 
exhibitions and tours during the lockdown periods and these have been 
gradually uploaded to the Google Arts and Culture platform. These 
simple PDF files allow online visitors to explore the objects and images 
at their own pace and to review areas of interest. The online tours 
available include: 

• Full Steam Ahead 
• Once Upon a Time 
• LGBTQ+ Stories 
• Queer Nature Tour 
• Behind the Scenes Collections Store Tour 

 
3.5 The More Than Oliver Twist project was completed at the end of March 

2021. This Subject Specialist Network (SSN) project was funded by 
Arts Council England. The establishment of a new Workhouse Network 
SSN was one of the objectives of the recent Voices from the 
Workhouse project at Gressenhall supported by the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund. This project saw Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse  
work with five other workhouse museums and Nottingham Trent 
University to form the Workhouse Network and engage museum 
workforces with pauper histories. Due to the COVID-19 lockdowns the 
temporary exhibition developed with these six regional partners was 
converted from a physical touring show to a completely digital offer, 
hosted on the Google Arts and Culture platform: 
The Workhouse Network — Google Arts & Culture 

 
The exhibition features artwork telling the visual story of six of the 
inmates whose lives were researched during the project. These are 
accompanied by audio soundtracks that tell their lives in the form of a 
radio show, reflect on their contemporary resonance and give the 
researcher’s a chance to explain their experience of working on the 
project. A five-year plan has been written which will ensure the network 
continues to grow and includes a range of opportunities to apply for 
future funding for further projects. Research was completed on all the 
inmates recorded in the 1881 and 1871 censuses. These are available 
on the free, publicly available eHive website: 
More Than Oliver Twist on eHive  

29

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fartsandculture.google.com%2Fpartner%2Fthe-workhouse-network&data=04%7C01%7Candrew.smith.mus%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C3bb956cb76f64d9334c208d8b26c77db%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637455526225802623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=fWHJ4Z%2Bx0sQzh1gTkXvF06whewviBuiH7OeUzOK24T0%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fehive.com%2Fcommunities%2F1167%2Fmore-than-oliver-twist&data=04%7C01%7Candrew.smith.mus%40norfolk.gov.uk%7C3bb956cb76f64d9334c208d8b26c77db%7C1419177e57e04f0faff0fd61b549d10e%7C0%7C0%7C637455526225802623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Jp3QYIC475GrBMA4LEAYVAuzJQvtLDG0ngcFrYnqQ1g%3D&reserved=0


 
3.6 The Farmers Foundry Company steam engine restoration project, also 

funded through Arts Council England, has now been completed and the 
steam engine has been delivered to Gressenhall. The final phase is for 
the engine to be made fully operational again once indoor volunteering 
is safely resumed. This will provide a platform to train a new diverse 
volunteer team in running the steam engine.  
 

3.7 A new Finance and Administration Assistant has been recruited to the 
Gressenhall team. Leanne Jarrett joined NMS at the end of August. A 
Bookings Assistant is also being recruited to support the administration 
of all bookings, including schools and venue hires. Interviews are 
currently underway to fill this vacant post. 
 

3.8 The new Adventure Playground at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, 
funded through the NCC capital programme, opened to the public on 
Saturday 25 October 2020, in time for October half term week.    
The opening of the new playground followed the implementation of 
strict COVID-19 safety procedures that were reviewed and signed-off 
by the NCC Health & Safety and Wellbeing team. All visits were pre-
booked using timed tickets available from the playground entrance 
once families had arrived at Gressenhall using their pre-booked 
museum entry tickets. To maintain social distancing, initially the 
capacity of the playground was significantly reduced with 25 children 
able to use the play equipment during each 40 minute play session 
across five separate sessions. This was increased to 40 children per 
each 40 minute session in May 2021. Restrictions on use of the 
playground were lifted in July 2021 ready for the summer holidays, but 
with regular cleaning still being undertaken by staff at points during the 
day.  
 

3.9 The Gressenhall farm staff have been able to work with colleagues in 
the learning team to successfully support school visits to the farm. 
Having a large outdoor site has enabled staff to offer a range of 
activities for our visitors to engage with and explore on the farm. The 
Gressenhall Events Officer has developed a range of farm-based 
activities using the outdoor farm spaces creatively. The farm has 
managed to operate largely as normal, even during the lockdown 
periods, with lambing, calving and farrowing of the livestock continuing 
to be supported seven days per week, alongside feeding and animal 
welfare checks. The team of Suffolk horses are continuing to carry out 
tasks and demonstrations and these have built up over recent months 
as we have reached the busy holiday period. It is rewarding to see the 
reaction of all our visitors as they have been able to reconnect with the 
animals and enjoy the Gressenhall farm. 
 

3.10 Maintaining and growing a strong social media presence is of even 
greater importance during lockdown periods and beyond. This remains 
a key priority for Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse and a digital report 
for the period will be circulated at the meeting. 

30



 
To connect with Gressenhall, please visit: 
https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW  
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW  
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/ 
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en    
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/  
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse  
 

3.11 The private Facebook group for Gressenhall staff and volunteers 
remains a valuable communication tool. It provides a link to the 
museum for staff and volunteers who are not currently able to attend or 
work on site. Regular updates are provided by staff onsite. Content is 
also uploaded by remote volunteers working on various projects and 
the Facebook group has become a safe space for developing the 
Gressenhall digital community. 
 

3.12 Gressenhall continues to investigate a range of commercial activities 
as a means of generating income in the future, including room and 
venue hire where virus restrictions and lockdown periods allow.  

 
4. Friends and Volunteers 

 
4.1 The Friends of Gressenhall remain supportive but it has not been 

possible to hold the bi-monthly Committee Meetings at the museum 
since March 2020. The Friends continue to operate the Gressenhall 
second-hand bookshop, but as with all other areas of the site, this has 
been impacted by the COVID-19 lockdown and has been closed since 
March last year. Therefore, the Friends have been unable to generate 
any new income from the bookshop for 18 months.  
 

4.2 Currently the NMS Volunteer co-Ordinator, Michelle Gaskin, is 
supporting the volunteer teams at Gressenhall in the absence of a 
Curator. The volunteer group receive weekly email updates to provide 
a regular link to Gressenhall and other volunteers. A virtual Gressenhall 
Tea Break on Zoom also continues with regular volunteer attendees. 
A range of remote volunteering opportunities have been developed 
which has seen our volunteer team increase to over 150 volunteers 
and we have recruited people from across the UK and increased the 
diversity of our volunteer group. Limited outdoor volunteering has 
recommenced at Gressenhall, with COVID-secure Safe Systems of 
Work in place. 
 
 

5. Learning & Outreach 
 
5.1 Digital learning 

In the months following the January lockdown the NMS Western Area 
Learning Team (based at Gressenhall, Kings Lynn and Thetford) 
combined resources to deliver ‘Quiz a Character’ and ‘Storytime’ digital 

31

https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse


events. These events used Zoom Webinars to access both those 
children at who remained at school and those home schooling. 
For ‘Quiz a Character’, a short, pre-recorded film was followed by a live 
Q&A with a costumed character. Gressenhall offered sessions focused 
on Mabel the Women’s Land Army Girl, Mr Bradfield the Schoolmaster, 
Ploughwright the Workhouse inmate, Maisie and Doreen and the 1953 
Coronation, Alice the washerwoman and Mrs Clackett the Farmer’s 
wife. In total, staff engaged with 861 learners in school and 899 other 
learners. Interestingly, there were also viewers from two residential 
care homes. ‘Storytime’ followed a similar format suitable for pre-school 
and early years children - a pre-recorded film of a reading of a 
children’s story followed by an accessible craft activity and the 
opportunity to ask questions. For this we filmed ‘We’re Going on a Bear 
Hunt’, ‘Farmer Duck’ and ‘The Lost Homework’, a story about a Gypsy 
Roma Traveller boy called Sonny. Storytime was watched by 470 
children in school and 341 other learners. In addition to these events, 
staff have engaged with a range of schools to deliver digital Prehistory, 
Victorian and Local Study sessions. In total, this has reached 680 
children and young people. As a result of these engagements, and as 
mentioned in the last report, the learning team will continue to offer 
digital engagements to complement the face-to-face offer from the 
Autumn term. We hope that his will enable us to embed and extend 
onsite learning by giving schools the chance to question a character or 
member of learning staff via zoom following their visit.  
 

5.2 Face-to-face learning 
To date, the return to face-to-face schools’ delivery at Gressenhall has 
been extremely positive. We were almost fully booked from 17 May 
2021, when schools were allowed to visit again, until the end of term. In 
total, there were visits from 35 schools and more than 1,300 children. 
There were two cancellations, one due to in-school COVID and the 
other through issues with coach hire. It was wonderful to have children 
back on site - our Safe Systems of Work have proved effective and 
helped to ensure that children and teaching staff could relax, learn and 
have fun together. Thanks are also due to all Gressenhall staff who 
helped to make the visits run so smoothly. 
Some comments from teaching staff. 
 
Marvellous as ever, See you again next year! 
 
All the children loved it (including all the staff). Your colleagues were 
amazing and really got the children involved. 
 
I just wanted to thank you all at Gressenhall for the most wonderful day 
today.  We all loved it and, in the words of one child, it was 'the most 
amazing day ever. Thank you all for your passion and hard work. It was 
so good to be back. 
 
Bookings for school visits in the first half of autumn term are strong. We 
will be keeping the same procedures and only welcoming one school 

32



each day during the first part half term. We were able to invite a small 
number of our learning volunteers to help deliver outdoor sessions 
during the summer term and will extend their involvement to include 
ventilated indoor spaces during the autumn term.  
 

5.3 The work with other audiences is picking up as COVID recovery 
continues. We will be hosting visits by groups from Dad’s Matters and 
Virtual School Sensory Support and are working with Family Placement 
and Adoption Services on plans to re-launch our Family Fun Day for 
Looked After Children and Foster Families in mid-September. The 
Family Fun Days, which would normally be held in early July, have 
grown over the twelve years prior to the pandemic, and have become a 
staple in many families’ calendars. They offer a chance for families to 
meet each other and NCC staff in a relaxed and informal setting and 
are a small token of our collective gratitude for the critical work these 
families undertake.  
 

5.4 Our work with young people as part of the Kick the Dust: Norfolk 
project continues to offer online work experience. Project Worker 
Rachel Duffield is facilitating both individual and group sessions which 
enable young people to find out about museum work by meeting a 
range of staff and embark upon a project which makes a real 
contribution to the museum. Young people have produced material for 
both digital and physical displays relating to subjects such as women in 
the workhouse and attitudes to disability. 
 

5.5 The Learning Team have said goodbye to two members of learning 
staff and are in the process of welcoming three new ones. Rebecca 
Hale, who held our three day a week learning officer post for four 
years, left us in April to go to a full-time position as a learning and 
engagement officer at London Transport Museum, primarily working 
with high school students. We have appointed Susie Childerhouse to 
Rebecca’s old post. Susie comes to us from Norwich Museums where 
she was a museum learning officer. She has settled in really well since 
starting in mid-May. Katie Smith, who worked the other two days of our 
learning officer post, has also left us for family-related reasons after 
thirteen years. We hope that we will see her in a freelance capacity in 
the near future. Both Rebecca and Katie have been wonderful 
colleagues and made great contributions to the offer at Gressenhall.  
 

5.6 A third new appointment is Ben Earle, who joins us in September as 
the three-year funded Environmental Learning and Engagement 
Officer. Ben comes to us from Islington Council and is relocating to 
Norfolk with his young family. His post is key to the implementation of 
the NCC-funded Gressenhall Environmental Hub project, ensuring that 
a broad range of groups engage with NCC’s environmental strategy 
and promoting positive action. Ben will not be working alone, and the 
wider Gressenhall team will all be involved in the delivery of this 
important project, as will colleagues from the NCC Environment team. 
As far as schools are concerned, we are looking towards developing 

33



onsite sessions, online resources and a professional development 
programme for teaching staff to promote whole-school action within 
their local area. A verbal update on the Gressenhall Environmental Hub 
project will be given at the meeting. 
 

5.7 Gressenhall continues to be registered with NCC as a Care Farm. 
Work-based placements to adults with learning difficulties have been 
suspended during pandemic. Placements will be reviewed at a later 
time. 
 

6. Kick the Dust Norfolk – project update 
The Kick the Dust: Norfolk project, funded through the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund (NLHF) and delivered in partnership with a range of 
organisations including YMCA Norfolk, has continued to engage with young 
people aged 11-25 throughout the COVID-19 lockdown period. The project 
team have adapted their activities to support existing groups across Norfolk, in 
particular YMCA groups, using digital means. 
 
From the start of the first national lockdown to 18 August 2021 there were a 
total of 3,904 interventions, involving 1,540 individual young people taking 
part in 1,724 hours of quality digital activity.  
Total engagement numbers for the project from October 2018 to 18 August 
2021 are 9,976 interventions, involving 3,255 individual young people taking 
part in 4,856 hours of quality activity.  Of these interventions, 237 volunteering 
opportunities have been provided to 109 individual young people.  
 
Of this activity 5% has been at Pre-Player (introductory) level specifically 
designed for YMCA clients; 27% has been at Player (initial activity) level; 43% 
at Shaper (project development & delivery) level; and 25% at Leader 
(leadership) level. Of these activities, 68% involve young people in leading 
and designing projects as well as acting as mentors to staff and other young 
people through our Digital Buddies and Peer Mentoring programmes.  
 
Since October 2018, the breakdown of project activity taking place in each 
NMS area: 46% in the West (covering Kings Lynn, Thetford and Gressenhall), 
30% in the East (covering Great Yarmouth, Cromer and Sheringham) and 
24% in Norwich. Since March 2020 the breakdown changed as more activity 
has taken place online and additional groups have been established: West 
28%; East 32% and Norwich 40%.  
 
Throughout lockdown, project staff have continued to develop and deliver an 
online training offer for all staff and volunteers who support youth engagement 
in NMS. In total 220 staff have taken part in training since October 2018, with 
129 of these opportunities having taken part during lockdown.  
 
Training allows our young volunteers and staff to work together and share 
best practice, something that will continue post lockdown. Key areas which 
staff and volunteers had identified for future training have been incorporated 
into this years’ training plan and included a joint venture between the YMCA 
and Kick the Dust on a new interview preparation programme entitled You’re 

34



Hired! for young people who may wish to progress onto the next cohort of the 
Bursary traineeship programme or into other employment. All places were 
filled on each of the sessions for young people and volunteers. Delivery of a 
new training offer will be rolled out from October 2021. As the team have 
opened up opportunities to volunteers, a further 16 young volunteers have 
taken part in training including freelancer training workshops. These 
workshops enable young people to set up as freelancers in the future.  
 
The Digital Buddy programme continues to expand with 6 young people 
supporting 5 Norwich based curators and the Events and Visitor Programme 
Manager for Norwich Castle with social media.  
 
NMS and NCC continue to work together through the ‘Making Creative 
Futures’ group and its sub-group the ‘Norfolk Creative Collective’. The group 
has developed a new offer to support parents in developing their own 
creativity and communication skills to engage with their children in a more 
meaningful way and continues to play a key part in the delivery of activity as 
part of the DfE funded Holiday Activities and Food (HAF) project.  
 
Kick the Dust was set up as a three-stage journey (Player-Shaper-Leader), 
with young people developing transferable work-related skills and gaining 
experiences that they would struggle to find elsewhere, supporting them in 
securing employment. Staff have seen young people move through the 
programme, gaining the confidence to take on volunteering roles within NMS, 
with others securing their first job through the Government’s Kick Start 6 
month placement programme; three young people progressing onto the Kick 
the Dust Bursary traineeship programme who are set to complete their Level 3 
Diploma in Cultural Heritage and two others who have taken up positions 
within NMS Front of House teams. Three young people currently sit on the 
Project Steering Group.  
 
Take up continues to expand through the establishment of new partnerships 
with schools, colleges, NCC Children’s Services and other cultural 
organisations. The launch of the new Kick the Dust web pages on the NMS 
site will support this growth and solidify the way NMS approaches youth 
engagement going forward – see: 
https://www.museums.norfolk.gov.uk/join-and-support/kick-the-dust 
 
Evaluation evidence shows that the programme has made a significant impact 
on young people and staff engaging in activity. As the project team moves to 
more face to face delivery, this impact will be greater as more staff engage in 
the co-delivery of activity and see the benefits to their own development.  
 
Breakdown of Kick the Dust project participants 
This has changed considerably since lockdown due to the high number of 
YMCA clients project staff have been engaging with through the enhanced 
digital offer.  

• 7% aged 11-13 years 
• 11% aged 14-16 years 
• 30% aged 17-19 years  

35

https://www.museums.norfolk.gov.uk/join-and-support/kick-the-dust


• 26% aged 20-22 years  
• 26% aged 23-25 years  

 
Data is collected around ethnicity through the Young People’s Feedback form 
(should they choose to answer this question) and is based on the descriptions 
used by NLHF: 
 
Breakdown of ethnicity 

• Asian – 3% 
• Black - 0.5% 
• Irish Traveller – 0.5% 
• Mixed ethnic – 4% 
• White – 92% 

 
Those identifying as having a disability which can be a barrier to engagement 

• Disabled – 20% 
• Non-disabled – 26% 
• Prefer not to say – 54% 

 
Target audiences (some young people fall into more than one category) 

• YMCA clients – 36% 
• Secondary schools – 27% 
• FE/HE – 32% 
• Young people with mental health issues – 17% 
• Outside of mainstream education – 6% 
• Young Offenders at those at risk of offending – 4% 
• Looked after children and adopted living at home - 5% 
• SEND – 8% 
• NEET – 5% 
• Care Leavers – 2% 
• New arrivals and refugees – 1% 
• Pregnant young mums and teenage parents – 1% 
• Young Carers – 3% 

 
Evaluation 
As part of the feedback, young people are asked how aware they are of the 
range of job roles available within NMS and the heritage sector and how they 
perceived museums in terms of being spaces for young people. 74% of young 
people stated they had little or no knowledge of job roles in NMS or the 
heritage sector before taking part. After their engagement, 62% of young 
people stated they now had a good understanding of the different job roles 
available in the sector with a further 33% stating they had more knowledge 
than they did before starting their Kick the Dust journey. This shows that Kick 
the Dust enables young people to gain a greater understanding of the 
opportunities within NMS and the sector in general. Following their 
engagement, 88% of young people participating felt that museums were a 
space they could use and would use in the future.  
 

36



Evaluation responses from this Kick the Dust project can be compared with 
those from the other eleven Kick the Dust projects currently running across 
the UK. This programme- wide evaluation has been commissioned by the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund from the evaluation specialists Renaisi.  
 
Following their engagement with the NMS Kick the Dust project: 

• 94% of young people said they had learnt new and interesting things 
about heritage (Renaisi survey 90%) 

•  93% of young people felt that heritage reflected them (Renaisi 70%)  
• 97% felt heritage would engage other young people (Renaisi 89%).  
• 86% of young people said they were more likely to become a volunteer 

as a result of their involvement in KTD and this option was the most 
popular with work experience for all those who took part. (Renaisi 61%) 

• 99% of young people stated they felt welcomed and respected by staff 
and 97% felt a sense of achievement.  

• 79% of young people stated they now had a better understanding of 
heritage having taken part in the programme with 21% stating they 
weren’t sure and needed more engagement. (Renaisi 78%) 

• 90% of young people felt they had the opportunity to influence 
decisions. (Renaisi 66%) 

• 80% of young people felt that there were jobs for young people like 
themselves to work in heritage. (Renaisi 72%). 

• 60% of young people felt that heritage had helped them understand 
more about their own lives – it had given them context   

• 88% said they had found heritage more relevant than they had before 
embarking on their Kick the Dust journey (Renaisi 77%).  

• 96% of young people felt that the programme was easy and affordable 
to get involved in but had concerns that they may not be able to do this 
in the future if there was a significant cost to them. (Renaisi 92%). 

 
 

7. Visitor numbers   
 

7.1 Visitor figures for the period will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
 
8.   Resource implications  

 
(a) Finance 
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse receives funding to support core 
operations and activities from Norfolk County Council.  A number of 
activities are financed as part of funding to Norfolk Museums Service 
from Arts Council England as a National Portfolio Organisation under 
the terms of the current 2018-22 Business Plan.  Project activities are 
funded from a range of external sources including the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund (formerly the Heritage Lottery Fund).  The source of 
these funds are detailed within the report.  The above report includes 
no additional or unfunded financial implications.   

 

37



(b) Property 
Unless specified, the above activities relate to the Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse and Norfolk Collections Centre site.  The above report 
includes no additional implications relating to property. 

 
(c) Staff  
The team at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse are supported by a 
wider team of colleagues within Norfolk Museums Service.  Some 
current posts are funded by external project funding. The above report 
includes no additional implications relating to staffing and personnel 
resources. 

 
(d) Information Technology 
Digital operations at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse are supported 
by Norfolk County Council’s IMT department.  Social media is delivered 
by the Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse team.  The above report 
includes no additional implications relating to Information Technology. 

 
9.  Recommendations: 

 
That the Area Museums Committee notes the report  

 
Originator of report: 
Andrew Smith 
Operations Manager – East & West, Norfolk Museums Service 
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, Gressenhall, Dereham, Norfolk NR20 4DR 
Tel: 01362 869254 e-mail: andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk  

38

mailto:andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	6/20 Ancient House Museum Report
	7/20 Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse Report

	8 Ancient House Museum Report
	ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT

	9 Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse Report
	GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT


